
 

City of Willowick 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 at 7:30 PM 

City Council Chambers 

ADA NOTICE 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals needing special accommodations 

(including auxiliary communicative aids and services) during this meeting should notify the City of 

Willowick at 440-585-3700 at least three working days before the meeting. 

AGENDA 

CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

PLEDGE ALLEGIANCE  

INVOCATION 

ROLL CALL OF COUNCIL 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Motion to Approve the Minutes from the February 20, 2024, Regular Council Meeting  

Tabled 3/5/2024 

2. Motion to Approve the Minutes of the March 2, 2024, Regular Council Meeting 

APPOINTMENTS, SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS & PROCLAMATIONS 

3. A Proclamation Recognizing Larry Koudela 

ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS 

REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR/SAFETY DIRECTOR 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION OF THE MAYOR’S REPORT 

GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & REPORTS – Directors & Officials 

Service Director – Todd Shannon 

Recreation Director – Julie Kless 

City Engineer – Tim McLaughlin 

Finance Director – Cheryl Benedict 

Law Director – Stephanie Landgraf 

Police Chief – Rob Daubenmire 

Fire Chief – Bill Malovrh 

Chief Housing/Zoning Inspector – Sean Brennan 

 

Page 1



  

City of Willowick City Council Regular Meeting Agenda 3/19/2024 

 

 

WARD MATTERS 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

a) Public statement (1 minute maximum) 

b) Council response to the public 

c) Public clarification (30 seconds to 1 minute for the purpose of restating or rearticulating an 

original   question, concern, suggestion or idea) 

REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 

Finance – Bisbee, Mohorcic, Antosh 

Safety – Phares, Malta, McFarland 

Service, Utilities & Public Lands – Malta, Phares, McFarland 

Streets, Sidewalks & Sewers – Malta, Bisbee, Mohorcic 

Tax Compliance – Koudela, Antosh, McFarland 

Moral Claims – Antosh, Phares, Koudela 

Budget – Mohorcic, Koudela, Bisbee 

LIAISON REPORTS 

Planning – Phares/Alternate Antosh 

Board of Zoning Appeals – McFarland/Alternate Koudela 

Volunteer Fire Fighters’ Dependents Fund Board – Antosh, Phares 

Recreation Board – Bisbee/Alternate Phares 

Plan Review Board – Antosh 

Hearts & Hammers – Malta 

FUND TRANSFERS & BID AUTHORIZATIONS 

CONTRACT APPROVALS 

4. Motion Authorizing the Mayor to Enter into a Contract with Ohio Mobile Gaming in the 

Amount of $624.36 to Rent Equipment for the Eclipse Program on April 8, 2024 

5. Motion to Authorize the Mayor to Execute a One (1) Year Contract with Comfort Control 

System for Preventative Maintenance in the Amount of $6,980.00 

INTRODUCTION & CONSIDERATION OF LEGISLATION 

6. Resolution No. 2024-12 

A Resolution of the Council of the City of Willowick Naming the City Swimming Pool at 

30100 Arnold Drive, the Martin E. Guzauskas Pool at Manry Park 

7. Resolution No. 2024-13 

A Resolution to Approve Authorizations (Then and Now Certificate) to Aladtec, LLC in the 

Amount of $5,099.00 for the City of Willowick and Declaring an Emergency 

Page 2



  

City of Willowick City Council Regular Meeting Agenda 3/19/2024 

 

8. Resolution No. 2024-14 

A Resolution Terminating the Community Reinvestment Area Agreement and Tax Abatement 

for Lucid Investments, Inc., DBA Cleveland Pizza, Co., and 31222 Vine, LLC., and Declaring 

an Emergency 

9. Resolution No. 2024-15 

A Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to Prepare and Submit an Application to Participate in the 

Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) Grant Program through the United States Department of 

Transporation, to Execute any Necessary Contracts or Documents Associated Therewith, and 

Declaring an Emergency  

10. Resolution No. 2024-16 

A Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to Prepare and Submit a Funding Request to Participate in 

the Community Project Funding Grant Program through the United States House of 

Representatives' Appropriations Committee, to Execute any Necessary Contracts or Documents 

Associated Therewith, and Declaring an Emergency 

11. Ordinance No. 2024-13 (As Amended) 

An Ordinance to Make Appropriations for Current Expenses and Other Expenditures of the 

City of Willowick, State of Ohio, During the Calendar Year Ending December 31, 2024 

1st Reading 2/20/2024; 2nd Reading 3/2/2024; 3rd Reading 3/19/2024 

12. Amended Ordinance No. 2024-14 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 921 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, 

Ohio, titled "Streets, Utilities and Public Services Code;" Specifically, Section 921.08 titled 

"Sanitary Sewer Rental Rates." to Provide a Use Charge Rate Based upon $9.8397 Per 100 

Cubic Feet of Water, Establish a Minimum Quarterly Billing for Such Use Charge Rate of 

$78.72 per 800 Cubic Feet of Water of Part Thereof 

1st Reading 2/20/2024; 2nd Reading 3/2/2024; 3rd Reading 3/19/2024 

13. Ordinance No. 2024-15 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 139 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, 

Ohio, titled "Division of Police;" Specifically, Section 139.02 titled "Residency Requirement; 

Bond" 

1st Reading 3/2/2024; 2nd Reading 3/19/2024 

14. Ordinance No. 2024-16 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 141 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, 

Ohio, titled "Division of Fire;" Specifically Section 141.01 titled "Composition; Rank." 

15. Ordinance No. 2024-17 

An Ordinance Establishing the Compensation of the Director of Law of the City, Repealing 

Certain Ordinances, and Declaring an Emergency 

16. Ordinance No. 2024-18 

An Ordinance Enacting Codified Ordinance 142.02 titled "Chief of the Division of Fire" 

Page 3



  

City of Willowick City Council Regular Meeting Agenda 3/19/2024 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

17. Motion to Implement Weekend Premium Pay in the Fire Department Commencing the 

Weekend of Memorial Day 2024 through Labor Day 2024, from Friday, 1800 Hours to 

Monday, 0600 Hours, at an Additional Rate of $8.00 Per Hour, Excluding Holidays. 

18. Motion to Declare Zetron Dispatch Equipment with City Tag No. 01965 as Surplus, Obsolete, 

Unneeded and Unfit for Public Use and Authorizing its Disposal 

19. Motion to Declare Data Master Equipment with City Tag No. 01098 as Surplus, Obsolete, 

Unneeded and Unfit for Public Use and Authorizing its Disposal 

20. Motion to Declare a Typewriter with City Tag No. 00133 as Surplus, Obsolete, Unneeded and 

Unfit for Public Use and Authorizing its Disposal 

21. Motion to Declare an OKI Printer with Serial No. AK3B024069A0 as Surplus, Obsolete, 

Unneeded and Unfit for Public Use and Authorizing its Disposal 

22. Motion to Authorize the Expenditure of Funds to American Legal Publishing Not to Exceed 

$11,550.00 for 2023 Updates to the City of Willowick Codified Ordinances 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

ADJOURNMENT 

Page 4



Page 5

Item #4.



Page 6

Item #4.



Page 7

Item #5.



Page 8

Item #5.



Page 9

Item #5.



Page 10

Item #5.



Page 11

Item #5.



Page 12

Item #5.



Page 13

Item #5.



Page 14

Item #5.



Page 15

Item #5.



Page 16

Item #5.



Page 17

Item #5.



Page 18

Item #5.



Page 19

Item #5.



Page 20

Item #5.



Page 21

Item #5.



Page 22

Item #5.



Page 23

Item #5.



Page 24

Item #5.



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-12 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWICK NAMING 
THE CITY SWIMMING POOL AT 30100 ARNOLD DRIVE THE MARTIN E. 
GUZAUSKAS POOL AT MANRY PARK. 

 
 WHEREAS, Martin (“Marty”) E. Guzauskas served the City of Willowick and its residents with 
dedication, enthusiasm, and distinction for 46 years, and 
 
 WHEREAS, Marty demonstrated a lifelong commitment to the City of Willowick’s aquatic 
programs, development of lifesaving skills, pools, and recreational and organized swim programs first as a 
lifeguard from 1977 to 1997, as Pool Manager from 1997 to 2002, and finally as the Willowick Aquatics 
Director from 2002 to 2021.  
 
 WHERAS, Marty passed away after a courageous battle with cancer on July 2, 2022. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Willowick, Lake 
County, Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the City of Willowick pool located at 30100 Arnold Drive shall hereafter be 
named the “Martin E. Guzauskas Pool at Manry Park” 

 
SECTION 2.   It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and 

relating to the adoption of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and of any of its committees that resulted in such formal action, were in 
meetings open to the public, in compliance with the law. 

 
 
PASSED: _______________, 2024 

 _________________________________________ 
Monica Koudela, President of Council 

 
Submitted to the Mayor for approval on 
_________________, 2024 

  
 
Approved by the Mayor on ____________, 2024 

     
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________           ______________________________ 
Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council            Michael J. Vanni, Mayor 
 

 

Page 25

Item #6.



Page 26

Item #7.



Page 27

Item #7.



Page 28

Item #7.



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-14 
 

A RESOLUTION TERMINATING THE COMMUNITY 
REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT AND TAX 
ABATEMENT FOR LUCID INVESTMENTS, INC. DBA 
CLEVELAND PIZZA, CO. AND 31222 VINE, LLC, AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, Willowick has encouraged the development of real property and the acquisition of 
personal property located in the area designated as a Community Reinvestment Area; and  

 WHEREAS, Lucid Investments, Inc. DBA Cleveland Pizza Co. and 31222 Vine, LLC presented 
a plan to the City consisting of a renovation and addition to an existing structure within the boundaries of 
the aforementioned Community Reinvestment Area, provided that the appropriate development incentives 
were available to support the economic viability of said Project; and 

 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Willowick, Ohio by Ordinance No. 2019-05 passed on 
March 19, 2019, designated the area as a Community Reinvestment Area pursuant Chapter 3735 of the 
Ohio Revised Code; and 

 WHEREAS, effective May 29, 2019, the Director of Development Services Agency of the State 
of Ohio determined that the aforementioned area designated in said Resolution No. 2019-05 contained the 
characteristics set forth in Section 3735.66 of the Ohio Revised Code and confirmed said area as a 
Community Reinvestment Area under said Chapter 3735; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3735.67(A), if construction or remodeling of commercial 
property is to be exempted from taxation pursuant to Section 3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code, the City 
and the property owner must enter into a written agreement setting forth the terms of their Agreement; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Willowick Council authorized and approved a Community 
Reinvestment Area Agreement with Lucid Investments, Inc. DBA Cleveland Pizza Co. and 31222 Vine 
LLC on September 7, 2021 annexed hereto as Exhibit A.  
 
 WHEREAS, at its 2023 annual meeting, the Tax Incentive Review Council recommended 
termination of Lucid Investments, Inc. DBA Cleveland Pizza Co. and 31222 Vine, LLC’s Community 
Reinvestment Area Agreement and tax abatement/exemptions for the real property located at 31222 Vine 
Street, Willowick, Ohio based upon the property owner’s voluntary discontinuation of the project, a 
material failure to fulfill its obligations under the aforesaid Agreement.   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWICK, COUNTY OF LAKE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 Section 1.  Pursuant to Section 9 of the September 9, 2021 Community Reinvestment Area 
Agreement with Lucid Investments, Inc. DBA Cleveland Pizza, Co. and 31222 Vine, LLC, the 
Community Reinvestment Area Agreement for Lucid Investments, Inc. DBA Cleveland Pizza Co. and 
31222 Vine, LLC, annexed hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby terminated as a result of the property owner(s)’ 
material failure to fulfill its obligations under the Agreement.  

Section 2. That it is found and determined that all formal actions of the Council relating to the 
adoption of this resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council, and that all deliberations of 

Page 29

Item #8.



this Council and any of its committees that resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the 
public, in compliance with all legal requirements. 

 WHEREFORE, this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage by 
Council and approval by the Mayor. 
 
 
Adopted by Council: __________, 2024 _________________________________ 

Monica Koudela, Council President 
  
  
Submitted to the Mayor: ___________, 2024 __________________________________ 

Michael J. Vanni, Mayor 
Approved by the Mayor: ___________, 2024  
 
 

 

Attest: _________________________________ 
 Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council 

Page 30

Item #8.



Page 31

Item #8.



Page 32

Item #8.



Page 33

Item #8.



Page 34

Item #8.



Page 35

Item #8.



Page 36

Item #8.



Page 37

Item #8.



Page 38

Item #8.



Page 39

Item #8.



Page 40

Item #8.



Page 41

Item #8.



Page 42

Item #8.



Page 43

Item #8.



Page 44

Item #8.



Page 45

Item #8.



Page 46

Item #8.



Page 47

Item #8.



 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-15 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO PREPARE AND 
SUBMIT AN APPLICATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE SAFE STREETS 
AND ROADS (SS4A) GRANT PROGRAM THROUGH THE UNITED 
STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, TO EXECUTE ANY 
NECESSARY CONTRACTS OR DOCUMENTS ASSOCIATED 
THEREWITH, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
WHEREAS, the Office of the Secretary of Transportation of the United States has 

established the Safe Streets and Roads for All Grant Program to provide competitive awards of 
funding to support planning, infrastructure, behavioral and operational initiatives to prevent death 
and serious injury on roads and streets in cities throughout the Country; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Council agrees that it is in the best interests of the City and its residents 
to authorize the Mayor to make application to the United States Department of Transportation and 
seek funding from the Safe Streets and Roads Grant Program in accordance with the program 
guidelines.  

   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWICK, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 Section 1. That the City of Willowick hereby authorizes the Mayor to make application 
to the United States Department of Transportation Safe Streets and Roads Grant Program, and to 
execute any documents or contracts associated therewith. 
 
 Section 2. It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were conducted in an open meeting of this Council 
and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in such actions 
were conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements including 
Chapter 123 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick. 
 
 Section 3. This Resolution constitutes an emergency measure in that the same provides 
for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, safety, welfare and dignity of the 
residents of the City of Willowick in that it timely complies with the grant deadlines imposed by 
the United States Department of Transportation,  
 

WHEREFORE, this Resolution shall be in full force and take effect immediately upon its 
passage by Council and approval by the Mayor. 
 
 
 
 

Page 48

Item #9.



PASSED: _________________, 2024 
 
                 
          Monica Koudela, President of Council 
SUBMITTED to the Mayor for his approval 
on ______________________, 2024             
 

APPROVED by the Mayor on 
                 ________________________, 2024 
         
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________  _____________________________ 
Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council   Michael Vanni, Mayor 
 

Page 49

Item #9.



 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-16 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO PREPARE AND 
SUBMIT A FUNDING REQUEST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE 
COMMUNITY PROJECT FUNDING GRANT PROGRAM THROUGH 
THE UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 
APPROPRIATIONS COMMITTEE, TO EXECUTE ANY NECESSARY 
CONTRACTS OR DOCUMENTS ASSOCIATED THEREWITH, AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
WHEREAS, the United States House of Representatives has established Community 

Project Funding which allows municipal governments to make direct funding requests to the 
federal government through the congressional appropriations process.  
 

WHEREAS, the Council agrees that it is in the best interests of the City and its residents 
to authorize the Mayor to make application to the United States Department House of 
Representatives Appropriations Committee to seek funding in accordance with its Community 
Project Funding program guidelines.  

   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWICK, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 Section 1. That the City of Willowick hereby authorizes the Mayor to make application 
to the United States House of Representatives Appropriations Committee for Community Project 
Funding, and to execute any documents or contracts associated therewith. 
 
 Section 2. It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning 
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were conducted in an open meeting of this Council 
and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in such actions 
were conducted in meetings open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements including 
Chapter 123 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick. 
 
 Section 3. This Resolution constitutes an emergency measure in that the same provides 
for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, safety, welfare and dignity of the 
residents of the City of Willowick in that it timely complies with the deadlines imposed by the 
United States House of Representatives Program guidelines.  
 

WHEREFORE, this Resolution shall be in full force and take effect immediately upon its 
passage by Council and approval by the Mayor. 
 
PASSED: _________________, 2024 
                 
          Monica Koudela, President of Council 

Page 50

Item #10.



SUBMITTED to the Mayor for his approval 
on ______________________, 2024             
 

APPROVED by the Mayor on 
                 ________________________, 2024 
         
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________  _____________________________ 
Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council   Michael Vanni, Mayor 
 

Page 51

Item #10.



GENERAL FUND

  Security of Persons & Property

    Safety Communications Dept.

      Personal Services

        Wages - Clerk Dispatchers 101.100.5136 498,130.00                                         

        Wages - Overtime 101.100.5199 6,000.00                                             

          Total Salaries & Wages 504,130.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.100.5210 150,000.00                                         

        P. E. R. S. 101.100.5220 71,000.00                                           

        Medicare 101.100.5260 7,350.00                                             

        Uniform Allowance 101.100.5270 -                                                      

        Schools & Training 101.100.5513 4,800.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 233,150.00                                         

            Total Safety Communications Department 737,280.00                                         

    Police Law Enforcement

      Personal Services

        Wages - Police Officers 101.101.5135 2,016,463.46                                      

        Wages - School Guards 101.101.5137 19,700.00                                           

        Retirement Benefit Payout 101.101.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 101.101.5199 160,000.00                                         

          Total Wages and Salaries 2,196,163.46                                      

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.101.5210 600,000.00                                         

        P. E. R. S. 101.101.5220 7,900.00                                             

        Police State Pension (Transfer) 101.101.5230 325,000.00                                         

        Medicare 101.101.5260 32,000.00                                           

        Uniform Allowance 101.101.5270 1,000.00                                             

        Telephone 101.101.5324 13,300.00                                           

        Insurance 101.101.5330 45,000.00                                           

        Gas & Oil 101.101.5420 50,000.00                                           

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.101.5430 28,900.00                                           

        Schools & Training 101.101.5513 18,000.00                                           

        Office Supplies 101.101.5521 9,500.00                                             

        Prisoner Care 101.101.5532 7,000.00                                             

        DARE Expenses 101.101.5534 -                                                      

SECTION 2.  That there be appropriated from the General Fund:

ORDINANCE NO. 2024 - 13 (AS AMENDED)

SECTION 1.  Be it ordained by the Council of the City of Willowick, State of Ohio, that to provide for the current 

expenses and other expenditures of said City of Willowick during the calendar year ending December 31, 2024, that the 

following sums be and they are hereby set aside and appropriated as follows:

AN ORDINANCE TO MAKE APPROPRIATIONS FOR CURRENT EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENDITURES OF 

THE CITY OF WILLOWICK, STATE OF OHIO, DURING THE CALENDAR YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2024.

1
Page 52

Item #11.



        Public Relations & Education 101.101.5535 1,400.00                                             

        Emergency 9-1-1 101.101.5560 5,200.00                                             

        Radio 101.101.5561 20,900.00                                           

        Maintenance & Repair 101.101.5564 49,400.00                                           

        Miscellaneous Expenses 101.101.5568 2,300.00                                             

        Capital Improvement 101.101.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 1,216,800.00                                      

            Total Police Department 3,412,963.46                                      

    Fire Prevention & Inspection

      Personal Services

        Wages - Director/Chief 101.102.5120 72,454.15                                           

        Wages - Firefighters & Officers 101.102.5138 927,451.08                                         

        Wages - Secretary 101.102.5191 28,501.00                                           

        Retirement Benefit Payout 101.102.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 101.102.5199 550.00                                                

            Total Wages & Salaries 1,028,956.23                                      

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.102.5210 50,000.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.102.5220 10,450.00                                           

        Police & Fire Pension 101.102.5230 13,500.00                                           

        Medicare 101.102.5260 15,000.00                                           

        Social Security 101.102.5265 60,000.00                                           

        Clothing - Original Issue 101.102.5271 15,400.00                                           

        Replacement Safety Clothing 101.102.5272 19,250.00                                           

        Professional Services 101.102.5319 -                                                      

        Telephone 101.102.5324 5,324.00                                             

        Insurance 101.102.5330 20,000.00                                           

        Contract Services 101.102.5354 -                                                      

        EMS Collection Fees 101.102.5385 17,050.00                                           

        Gas & Oil 101.102.5420 11,500.00                                           

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.102.5430 24,887.50                                           

        Vehicle Lease Payments 101.102.5434 3,055.00                                             

        Schools & Training 101.102.5513 4,125.00                                             

        Office Supplies 101.102.5521 5,032.50                                             

        Honor Guard 101.102.5533 -                                                      

        Public Relations & Education 101.102.5535 6,000.00                                             

        Radio 101.102.5561 8,270.90                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 101.102.5564 33,398.75                                           

        Capital Imp. Fire 101.102.5611 22,000.00                                           

        Transfer for Fund 208 101.102.5901 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 344,243.65                                         

            Total Fire Department 1,373,199.88                                      

    Public Health & Welfare

      Other

        Health District Charges 101.201.5392 150,000.00                                         

          Total Other Expense 150,000.00                                         

            Total Public Health & Welfare 150,000.00                                         

2
Page 53

Item #11.



  Leisure Time Activities

    Parks & Playgrounds

      Personal Services

          Wages - Parks - Regular 101.301.5140 186,800.00                                         

          Wages - Summer Employees 101.301.5143 13,450.00                                           

          Retirement Benefit Payout 101.301.5195 -                                                      

          Wages - Overtime 101.301.5199 9,000.00                                             

            Total Wages & Salaries 209,250.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.301.5210 95,000.00                                           

        Cobra Hospitalization 101.301.5211 -                                                      

        P. E. R. S. 101.301.5220 29,500.00                                           

        Medicare 101.301.5260 3,100.00                                             

        Electricity & Heating 101.301.5320 65,000.00                                           

        Water 101.301.5322 8,000.00                                             

        Gas & Oil 101.301.5420 9,000.00                                             

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.301.5430 3,500.00                                             

        Vehicle Lease Payments 101.301.5434 11,500.00                                           

        Cleaning Supplies 101.301.5460 13,500.00                                           

        Park Repairs 101.301.5563 31,000.00                                           

        Maintenance & Repair 101.301.5564 2,500.00                                             

        Capital Improvements 101.301.5600 5,000.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 276,600.00                                         

            Total Parks Department 485,850.00                                         

    Swimming Pools

      Personal Services

        Wages - Leisure & Regular 101.302.5150 119,000.00                                         

            Total Wages & Salaries 119,000.00                                         

        P.E.R.S. 101.302.5220 17,000.00                                           

        Medicare 101.302.5260 1,800.00                                             

        Water 101.302.5322 5,500.00                                             

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.302.5430 9,000.00                                             

        Swimming Pool Supplies 101.302.5451 3,500.00                                             

        Swimming Pool Chemicals 101.302.5452 26,000.00                                           

        Training 101.302.5513 3,000.00                                             

        Swimming Pool Repairs 101.302.5566 14,000.00                                           

        Capital Improvement 101.302.5600 14,300.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 94,100.00                                           

            Total Swimming Pools 213,100.00                                         

    Recreation Programs (including Camp)

      Personal Services

        Wages  - Director/Chief 101.303.5120 93,025.00                                           

        Wages - Leisure - Regular 101.303.5150 70,000.00                                           

        Wages - Playground Supervisor 101.303.5151 65,000.00                                           

        Wages - Ball Diamond 101.303.5153 11,000.00                                           

        Wages - Secretary 101.303.5191 50,320.00                                           

3
Page 54

Item #11.



        Wages - Overtime 101.303.5199 800.00                                                

          Total Wages & Salaries 290,145.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.303.5210 53,000.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.303.5220 40,700.00                                           

        Medicare 101.303.5260 4,300.00                                             

        Insurance 101.303.5330 33,000.00                                           

        Contract Umpires 101.303.5350 2,500.00                                             

        Contract Officials 101.303.5351 7,000.00                                             

        Contract Instructors 101.303.5354 1,000.00                                             

        Small Equipment & Supplies 101.303.5430 9,000.00                                             

        League Supplies 101.303.5433 2,800.00                                             

        Vehicle Lease Payments 101.303.5434 7,000.00                                             

        Fee Fund Supplies 101.303.5454 3,500.00                                             

        Recreation Program Supplies 101.303.5456 32,000.00                                           

        Concessions 101.303.5457 1,000.00                                             

        Youth Basketball Expenses 101.303.5458 6,500.00                                             

        Youth Baseball Expenses 101.303.5459 5,000.00                                             

        Paver Bricks Engraving 101.303.5470 200.00                                                

        Training 101.303.5513 1,500.00                                             

        Office Supplies 101.303.5521 9,800.00                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 101.303.5564 17,000.00                                           

        Capital Improvement 101.303.5600 -                                                      

        Grant March 101.303.5602 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement - Grant 101.303.5613 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 236,800.00                                         

            Total Recreation 526,945.00                                         

    Housing & Building Inspection

        Wages - Director/Chief 101.401.5120 89,800.00                                           

        Wages - Housing Inspectors 101.401.5125 92,405.00                                           

        Wages - Secretary 101.401.5191 49,820.00                                           

        Retirement Benefit Payout 101.401.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 101.401.5199 600.00                                                

          Total Wages & Salaries 232,625.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.401.5210 82,000.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.401.5220 33,000.00                                           

        Medicare 101.401.5260 3,400.00                                             

        Professional Services 101.401.5319 -                                                      

        Telephone 101.401.5324 1,320.00                                             

        Contract Services 101.401.5354 10,000.00                                           

        Gas & Oil 101.401.5420 4,000.00                                             

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.401.5430 1,000.00                                             

        Vehicle Lease Payments 101.401.5434 14,000.00                                           

        Schools & Training 101.401.5513 1,000.00                                             

        Office Supplies 101.401.5521 6,000.00                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 101.401.5564 6,000.00                                             

        Misc Expenses 101.401.5568 -                                                      

        Capital Improvements 101.401.5600 -                                                      

4
Page 55

Item #11.



          Total Other Expense 161,720.00                                         

            Total Building Department 394,345.00                                         

    Garbage & Refuse Collection

      Other

        Yardwaste Disposal 101.501.5362 2,000.00                                             

        Curbside Recycling 101.501.5363 2,000.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 4,000.00                                             

            Total Refuse Collection 4,000.00                                             

    Transportation

      Personal Services

        Wages - Regular 101.601.5140 157,200.00                                         

        Wages - Service Summer Employees 101.601.5143 -                                                      

        Retire Benefit Payout 101.601.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 101.601.5199 10,000.00                                           

          Total Wages & Salaries 167,200.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.601.5210 57,000.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.601.5220 23,500.00                                           

        Medicare 101.601.5260 2,500.00                                             

        Telephone 101.601.5324 -                                                      

        Engineering Fees 101.601.5360 -                                                      

        Sand - Gravel - Concrete 101.601.5410 -                                                      

        Small Equipment & Supplies 101.601.5430 1,500.00                                             

        Tools 101.601.5440 1,500.00                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 101.601.5564 1,800.00                                             

        Capital Improvement 101.601.5600 8,000.00                                             

        Heavy Equipment Replacement 101.601.5601 -                                                      

        Transfer to State Highway Imp. 101.601.5902 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 95,800.00                                           

            Total Transportation 263,000.00                                         

    Technology Dept.

      Personal Services

        Wages - IT Director 101.700.5170 -                                                      

        Wages - Part Time 101.700.5198 2,470.00                                             

          Total Wages & Salaries 2,470.00                                             

      Other

        P. E. R. S. 101.700.5220 350.00                                                

        Medicare 101.700.5260 40.00                                                  

        Professional Services 101.700.5319 22,000.00                                           

        Internet 101.700.5325 9,500.00                                             

        Network Equipment & Supplies 101.700.5431 8,000.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 39,890.00                                           

            Total Technology Dept. 42,360.00                                           

5
Page 56

Item #11.



    Mayor's Office

      Personal Services

        Wages - Mayor 101.701.5105 60,000.00                                           

        Wages - Safety Director 101.701.5106 30,000.00                                           

        Wages - Secretary 101.701.5191 48,010.00                                           

        Wages - Overtime 101.701.5199 1,000.00                                             

          Total Wages & Salaries 139,010.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.701.5210 41,000.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.701.5220 20,000.00                                           

        Medicare 101.701.5260 2,100.00                                             

        Contract Services 101.701.5354 -                                                      

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.701.5430 500.00                                                

        Schools & Training 101.701.5513 3,500.00                                             

          Total Other Expenses 67,100.00                                           

            Total Mayor's Office 206,110.00                                         

    Finance Administration

      Personal Services

        Wages - Director/Chief 101.702.5120 113,600.00                                         

        Wages - Finance Staff 101.702.5160 111,050.00                                         

        Retirement Benefit Payout 101.702.5195 -                                                      

          Total Wages & Salaries 224,650.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.702.5210 94,100.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.702.5220 32,000.00                                           

        Medicare 101.702.5260 3,300.00                                             

        Contract Employees 101.702.5354 1,900.00                                             

        Bank Service Charges 101.702.5383 -                                                      

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.702.5430 20,300.00                                           

        Schools & Training 101.702.5513 2,000.00                                             

        Capital Improvements 101.702.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 153,600.00                                         

            Total Finance Department 378,250.00                                         

    Legal Administration

      Personal Services

        Legal Retainer 101.703.5114 98,000.00                                           

          Total Wages & Salaries 98,000.00                                           

      Other

        P. E. R. S. 101.703.5220 13,750.00                                           

        Medicare 101.703.5260 1,450.00                                             

        Legal Advertising 101.703.5310 7,000.00                                             

        Consulting Services 101.703.5318 70,000.00                                           

        Law Books & Periodicals 101.703.5512 500.00                                                

        Schools & Training 101.703.5513 500.00                                                

6
Page 57

Item #11.



        Miscellaneous Expenses 101.703.5568 500.00                                                

          Total Other Expense 93,700.00                                           

            Total Legal Department 191,700.00                                         

    Administrative Support Service Dept.

      Personal Services

        Wages - Director/Chief 101.704.5120 91,410.00                                           

        Wages - Secretary 101.704.5191 51,820.00                                           

        Wages - Overtime 101.704.5199 500.00                                                

          Total Wages & Salaries 143,730.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.704.5210 79,000.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.704.5220 20,500.00                                           

        Medicare 101.704.5260 2,100.00                                             

        Uniforms 101.704.5270 22,000.00                                           

        Telephone 101.704.5324 2,160.00                                             

        Contract Services 101.704.5354 16,000.00                                           

        Gas & Oil 101.704.5420 12,000.00                                           

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.704.5430 6,500.00                                             

        Vehicle Lease Payments 101.704.5434 17,650.00                                           

        Schools & Training 101.704.5513 15,000.00                                           

        Office Supplies 101.704.5521 6,000.00                                             

        Radio 101.704.5561 -                                                      

        Maintenance & Repair 101.704.5564 7,000.00                                             

        Capital Improvement 101.704.5600 11,500.00                                           

        Stormwater Management 101.704.5604 9,000.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 226,410.00                                         

            Total Service Department 370,140.00                                         

    Legislative

      Personal Services

        Wages - Council Salaries 101.705.5110 72,000.00                                           

        Wages - Council Clerk 101.705.5113 -                                                      

          Total Wages & Salaries 72,000.00                                           

      Other

        P. E. R. S. 101.705.5220 10,100.00                                           

        Medicare 101.705.5260 1,100.00                                             

        Social Security 101.705.5265 -                                                      

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.705.5430 1,000.00                                             

        Miscellaneous Expenses 101.705.5568 10,000.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 22,200.00                                           

            Total General Govt. 94,200.00                                           

    Municipal Court Costs & Fees

      Other

        Court Costs & Fees 101.706.5315 50,000.00                                           

        Jury & Witness Fees 101.706.5316 10.00                                                  

          Total Other Expense 50,010.00                                           

7
Page 58

Item #11.



            Total Municipal Court 50,010.00                                           

    Civil Service Commission

      Other

        Civil Service Operations 101.707.5317 18,000.00                                           

        Training 101.707.5513 500.00                                                

          Total Other Expense 18,500.00                                           

            Total Civil Service Commission Operations 18,500.00                                           

    Lands & Buildings

      Personal Services

        Wages - Regular 101.708.5140 54,500.00                                           

        Wages - Overtime 101.708.5199 4,000.00                                             

          Total Wages & Salaries 58,500.00                                           

      Other

        Hospitalization 101.708.5210 27,500.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 101.708.5220 8,500.00                                             

        Medicare 101.708.5260 1,000.00                                             

        Electricity & Heating 101.708.5320 83,000.00                                           

        Water 101.708.5322 6,000.00                                             

        Landscaping Services 101.708.5352 25,600.00                                           

        Contract Cleaning Service 101.708.5353 -                                                      

        Street Signs 101.708.5364 5,500.00                                             

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.708.5430 10,000.00                                           

        Cleaning Supplies 101.708.5460 20,000.00                                           

        Maintenance & Repair 101.708.5564 96,000.00                                           

        Capital Improvements 101.708.5600 22,500.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 305,600.00                                         

            Total Lands & Buildings 364,100.00                                         

    Engineering

      Other

        Engineering Fees 101.709.5360 55,000.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 55,000.00                                           

            Total Engineering Fees 55,000.00                                           

    County Auditor Deductions

      Other

        State Auditors Fees 101.710.5380 60,000.00                                           

        State Prop Admin Fees 101.710.5386 320.00                                                

        County Treasurer Fees 101.710.5390 33,500.00                                           

        Workers Compensation 101.710.5391 160,000.00                                         

        County Election Fees 101.710.5393 4,000.00                                             

        County Delinquent Land Advertising 101.710.5394 1,000.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 258,820.00                                         

            Total County Auditor Deductions 258,820.00                                         

8
Page 59

Item #11.



    Administrative Support 

      Other

        Contingent Liability 101.711.5220 5,000.00                                             

        Professional Services 101.711.5319 20,000.00                                           

        Telephone 101.711.5324 32,000.00                                           

        Insurance 101.711.5330 40,000.00                                           

        Unemployment Compensation 101.711.5331 4,000.00                                             

        Charge for Income Tax Collections 101.711.5340 130,000.00                                         

        Ohio Municipal League 101.711.5371 2,500.00                                             

        Codification 101.711.5372 11,550.00                                           

        Land Acquisitions 101.711.5375 -                                                      

        Renovation/Demolition Costs 101.711.5376 12,000.00                                           

        Small Equip & Supplies 101.711.5430 5,000.00                                             

        Network Equip & Supplies 101.711.5431 -                                                      

        Schools & Training 101.711.5513 -                                                      

        BWC Grant Expenses 101.711.5516 -                                                      

        Office Supplies 101.711.5521 18,000.00                                           

        Miscellaneous Expenses 101.711.5568 10,000.00                                           

        Capital Improvements 101.711.5600 -                                                      

        SID Reimbursements 101.711.5715 38,000.00                                           

        Transfer to Fund 301 101.711.5904 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 401 101.711.5905 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 220 101.711.5906 50,000.00                                           

        Transfer to Fund 218 101.711.5909 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 211 101.711.5913 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 213 101.711.5916 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 240 101.711.5921 150,000.00                                         

        Transfer to Fund 230 101.711.5923 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 420 101.711.5924 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 225 101.711.5925 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 227 101.711.5934 -                                                      

        Refunds 101.711.5971 8,000.00                                             

        Unclaimed Funds 101.711.5972 2,000.00                                             

        Advance Fund 214 101.711.5975 -                                                      

        Advance Fund 213 101.711.5976 -                                                      

        Advance Fund 223 101.711.5989 -                                                      

        Advance Fund 205 101.711.5990 600,000.00                                         

        Advance Fund 224 101.711.5992 -                                                      

        Advance Fund 225 101.711.5993 -                                                      

        Advance Fund 227 101.711.5995 68,144.00                                           

        Advance Fund 420 101.711.5998 -                                                      

        Advance Fund 433 101.711.5991 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 1,206,194.00                                      

            Total Administrative Support 1,206,194.00                                      

    Public Relations

        Public Relations 101.713.5535 -                                                      

          Total Public Relations -                                                      

    Economic Development

        Professional Services 101.714.5319 -                                                      

        Contract Services 101.714.5354 -                                                      

9
Page 60

Item #11.



           Total Economic Development -                                                      

              TOTAL GENERAL FUND: 10,796,067.34                         

SCM&R FUND

      Personal Services

        Wages - Summer Employment 202.601.5143 -                                                      

        Wages - Service - Regular 202.601.5185 305,432.20                                         

        Retirement Benefit Payout 202.601.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 202.601.5199 12,000.00                                           

          Total Wages & Salaries 317,432.20                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 202.601.5210 114,000.00                                         

        P. E. R. S. 202.601.5220 45,000.00                                           

        Medicare 202.601.5260 4,700.00                                             

        Street Signs 202.601.5364 15,000.00                                           

        Freeway Maintenance 202.601.5366 22,000.00                                           

        Street Resurface & Repair 202.601.5367 28,000.00                                           

        Street Lining 202.601.5368 -                                                      

        Small Equipment & Supplies 202.601.5430 1,500.00                                             

        Vehicle Lease Payments 202.601.5434 17,240.00                                           

        Tools 202.601.5440 2,000.00                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 202.601.5564 20,000.00                                           

        Contract Construction 202.601.5600 -                                                      

        Heavy Equipment Replacement 202.601.5601 75,000.00                                           

        Note Principal 202.711.5703 -                                                      

        Note Interest 202.711.5704 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 344,440.00                                         

            TOTAL SCM&R FUND 661,872.20                                         

STATE HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT FUND

      Other

        Road Salt 203.601.5465 75,000.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 75,000.00                                           

            TOTAL STATE HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT FUND 75,000.00                                           

STREET LIGHTING FUND

      Other

        Street Lighting 204.502.5326 215,000.00                                         

        Engineering Fees 204.502.5360 -                                                      

        State Prop Admin Fees 204.502.5386 24.00                                                  

        County Treasurer Fees 204.502.5390 2,500.00                                             

SECTION 5.  That there be appropriated from the Street Lighting Fund:

SECTION 4.  That there be appropriated from the State Highway Fund:

SECTION 3.    That there be appropriated from the Street Construction, Maintenance & Repair Fund:

10
Page 61

Item #11.



        Small Equipment & Supplies 204.502.5430 9,500.00                                             

        Equipment Maintenance 204.502.5564 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement 204.502.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 227,024.00                                         

            TOTAL STREET LIGHTING FUND 227,024.00                                         

SEWER REVENUE FUND

      Personal Services

        Wages - Regular 205.503.5140 301,050.00                                         

        Wages - Summer Employees 205.503.5143 -                                                      

        Retirement Benefit Payout 205.503.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 205.503.5199 7,500.00                                             

          Total Wages & Salaries 308,550.00                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 205.503.5210 117,000.00                                         

        P. E. R. S. 205.503.5220 44,000.00                                           

        Medicare 205.503.5260 2,500.00                                             

        Wickliffe Sewer Charges 205.503.5323 70,000.00                                           

        Insurance 205.503.5330 20,000.00                                           

        Contract Services 205.503.5354 -                                                      

        Euclid Disposal Plant 205.503.5361 2,850,000.00                                      

        Sewer Maintenance 205.503.5367 38,500.00                                           

        Lake County Billing Fees 205.503.5382 110,000.00                                         

        County Treasurer Fees 205.503.5390 8,500.00                                             

        Gas & Oil 205.503.5420 15,000.00                                           

        Small Equipment & Supplies 205.503.5430 1,500.00                                             

        Vehicle Lease Payments 205.503.5434 -                                                      

        Schools & Training 205.503.5513 1,000.00                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 205.503.5564 6,000.00                                             

        Miscellaneous Expenses 205.503.5568 -                                                      

        Sewer Lateral Repairs 205.503.5569 -                                                      

        Capital Improvements 205.503.5600 -                                                      

        General Refunds 205.503.5971 1,000.00                                             

        Engineering Fees 205.709.5360 25,000.00                                           

        Note Principal 205.711.5703 175,765.00                                         

        Note Interest 205.711.5704 6,533.00                                             

        Transfer to Fund 422 205.711.5919 -                                                      

        Return of Advance to Fund 101 205.711.5977 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 426 205.908.5930 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 428 205.911.5932 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 429 205.912.5933 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 3,492,298.00                                      

            TOTAL SEWER REVENUE FUND 3,800,848.00                                      

POLICE & FIRE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

      Other

SECTION 6.  That there be appropriated from the Sewer Disposal Water Pollution Control Fund (Sewer Revenue):

SECTION 7.  That there be appropriated from the Police & Fire Capital Improvement Fund:

11
Page 62

Item #11.



        Small Equipment - Police 207.101.5430 16,200.00                                           

        Capital Improvements - Police 207.101.5610 23,400.00                                           

        Lease Principal-Police 207.101.5703 90,400.00                                           

        Lease Interest-Police 207.101.5704 10,900.00                                           

        Small Equipment - Fire 207.102.5430 34,365.00                                           

        BWC Grant Expenses 207.102.5516 -                                                      

        Capital Improvements - Fire 207.102.5611 65,000.00                                           

        State Prop Admin Fees 207.710.5386 30.00                                                  

        County Treasurer Fees 207.710.5390 3,000.00                                             

        Note Principal-Fire 207.711.5703 65,000.00                                           

        Note Interest-Fire 207.711.5704 10,730.00                                           

        Transfer to Fund 301 207.711.5904 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 223 207.711.5989 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 319,025.00                                         

            TOTAL POLICE & FIRE CAPITAL FUND 319,025.00                                         

FIRE EMERGENCY RESCUE FUND

     Personal Services

        Wages - Director/Chief 208.102.5120 59,280.67                                           

        Wages - Firefighters & Officers 208.102.5138 758,823.61                                         

        Wages - Secretary 208.102.5191 23,319.00                                           

        Retirement Benefit Payout 208.102.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 208.102.5199 450.00                                                

          Total Wages & Salaries 841,873.28                                         

      Other

        Hospitalization 208.102.5210 29,000.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 208.102.5220 8,550.00                                             

        Police & Fire Pension 208.102.5230 11,100.00                                           

        Medicare 208.102.5260 12,500.00                                           

        Social Security 208.102.5265 48,950.00                                           

        Clothing - Original Issue 208.102.5271 12,600.00                                           

        Replacement Safety Clothing 208.102.5272 15,750.00                                           

        Professional Services 208.102.5319 -                                                      

        Telephone 208.102.5324 4,356.00                                             

        Insurance 208.102.5330 18,000.00                                           

        Engineering Fees 208.102.5360 -                                                      

        EMS Collection Fees 208.102.5385 13,950.00                                           

        State Prop Admin Fees 208.102.5386 78.00                                                  

        County Treasurer Fees 208.102.5390 8,000.00                                             

        Gas & Oil 208.102.5420 9,000.00                                             

        Small Equipment & Supplies 208.102.5430 20,362.50                                           

        Vehicle Lease Payments 208.102.5434 2,500.00                                             

        Schools & Training 208.102.5513 3,375.00                                             

        EMS Grant Expenses 208.102.5515 -                                                      

        Office Supplies 208.102.5521 4,117.50                                             

        Radio 208.102.5561 6,767.10                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 208.102.5564 27,326.25                                           

        Capital Improvements 208.102.5600 18,000.00                                           

SECTION 8.  That there be appropriated from the Fire Emergency Rescue Fund:

12
Page 63

Item #11.



          Total Other Expense 274,282.35                                         

            TOTAL FIRE EMERGENCY RESCUE FUND 1,116,155.63                                      

SANITARY & STORM SEWER LATERAL LEVY FUND

      Personal Services

        Wages - Regular 211.503.5140 -                                                      

        Wages - Overtime 211.503.5199 -                                                      

          Total Wages & Salaries -                                                      

      Other

        P. E. R. S. 211.503.5220 -                                                      

        Medicare 211.503.5260 -                                                      

        Engineering 211.503.5360 -                                                      

        State Prop Admin Fees 211.503.5386 14.00                                                  

        County Treasurer's Fees 211.503.5390 1,500.00                                             

        Sewer Lateral Repairs 211.503.5569 -                                                      

        Capital Improvements 211.503.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 1,514.00                                             

            TOTAL SANITARY & STORM SEWER LATERAL LEVY FUND 1,514.00                                             

STREET IMPROVEMENT LEVY FUND

      Other

        Engineering Fees 213.601.5360 35,000.00                                           

        Street Resurfacing & Repair 213.601.5367 1,057,000.00                                      

        Street Lining 213.601.5368 -                                                      

        Miscellaneous Expenses 213.601.5568 -                                                      

        Legal Fees 213.711.5318 -                                                      

        State Prop Admin Fees 213.711.5386 94.00                                                  

        County Treasurer Fees 213.711.5390 1,050.00                                             

        Return Advance Fund 101 213.711.5977 -                                                      

        Transfer-Fund 429 213.912.5933 -                                                      

        Street Resurfacing-E. 327th St. Phase 2 213.601.5360 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 1,093,144.00                                      

            TOTAL STREET IMPROVEMENT LEVY FUND 1,093,144.00                                      

RECREATION IMPROVEMENT LEVY FUND

      Other

        Maintenance & Repair-Pools 214.302.5564 -                                                      

        Miscellaneous Expenses-Pools 214.302.5568 -                                                      

        Capital Improvements-Pools 214.302.5614 -                                                      

        Small Equip & Supplies-Recreation 214.303.5430 -                                                      

        Miscellaneous Expenses-Recreation 214.303.5568 -                                                      

        Capital Improvements-Recreation 214.303.5600 65,000.00                                           

        Engineering 214.709.5360 -                                                      

        Legal Fees 214.711.5318 -                                                      

SECTION 11.  That there be appropriated from the Recreation Improvement Levy Fund:

SECTION 10.  That there be appropriated from the Street Improvement Levy Fund:

SECTION 9.That there be appropriated from the Sanitary & Sewer Lateral Levy Fund:

13
Page 64

Item #11.



        State Prop Admin Fees 214.711.5386 8.00                                                    

        County Treasurer Fees 214.711.5390 800.00                                                

        Return of Advance to Fund 101 214.711.5977 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 65,808.00                                           

            TOTAL RECREATION IMPROVEMENT LEVY FUND 65,808.00                                           

PERMISSIVE LICENSE FEE FUND

      Other

        Traffic Signals 215.601.5326 40,000.00                                           

        Traffic Lights 215.601.5328 16,000.00                                           

        Insurance 215.601.5330 15,000.00                                           

        Engineering 215.601.5360 -                                                      

        Street Signs 215.601.5364 3,000.00                                             

        Street Resurface & Repair 215.601.5367 25,000.00                                           

        Street Lining 215.601.5368 -                                                      

        Gas & Oil 215.601.5420 18,000.00                                           

        Equipment Maintenance 215.601.5564 -                                                      

        Miscellaneous Expenses 215.601.5568 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement 215.601.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 117,000.00                                         

            TOTAL PERMISSIVE LICENSE FEE FUND 117,000.00                                         

DUI EDUCATION & ENFORCEMENT FUND

      Other

        DUI Education & Enforcement 217.101.5530 1,500.00                                             

        Capital Improvement 217.101.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 1,500.00                                             

            TOTAL DUI EDUCATION & ENFORCEMENT FUND 1,500.00                                             

DRUG LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND

      Other

        Equipment & Supplies 218.101.5430 200.00                                                

        Training 218.101.5513 500.00                                                

        Capital Equipment 218.101.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 700.00                                                

            TOTAL DRUG LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND 700.00                                                

SENIOR CITIZENS CENTER FUND

      Personal Services

        Wages 220.304.5120 48,140.00                                           

        Retirement Benefit Payout 220.304.5195 -                                                      

        Wages - Part Time 220.304.5198 21,850.00                                           

SECTION 13.  That there be appropriated from the DUI Education & Enforcement Fund:

SECTION 14.  That there be appropriated from the Drug Law Enforcement Fund:

SECTION 15. That there be appropriated from the Senior Citizens Center Fund:

SECTION 12.  That there be appropriated from the Permissive License Fee Fund:

14
Page 65

Item #11.



          Total Wages & Salaries 69,990.00                                           

      Other

        Hospitalization 220.304.5210 13,500.00                                           

        P. E. R. S. 220.304.5220 9,800.00                                             

        Medicare 220.304.5260 1,100.00                                             

        Electricity & Heating 220.304.5320 4,300.00                                             

        Gas & Oil 220.304.5420 -                                                      

        Small Equip & Supplies 220.304.5430 3,000.00                                             

        Program Supplies 220.304.5453 6,000.00                                             

        Office Supplies 220.304.5521 7,000.00                                             

        Maintenance & Repair 220.304.5564 3,000.00                                             

        United Way Expenses 220.304.5567 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement 220.304.5600 -                                                      

        Levy Fund 220.304.5603 43,000.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 90,700.00                                           

            TOTAL SENIOR CITIZENS CENTER FUND 160,690.00                                         

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT FUND

      Other

        Transfer to Fund 208 221.711.5901 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 202 221.711.5903 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 205 221.711.5907 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 101 221.711.5911 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 221 221.711.5924 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT FUND -                                                      

HOMELAND SECURITY GRANT FUND

      Other

        Small Equip & Supplies 223.102.5430 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement 223.102.5600 -                                                      

        Return of Advance to Fund 101 223.711.5977 -                                                      

        Return of Advance to Fund 207 223.711.5980 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL HOMELAND SECURITY GRANT FUND -                                                      

COMMUNITY BLOCK GRANT FUND

      Other

        Return of Advance to 101 224.711.5977 -                                                      

        CDBG - Hearts & Hammers 224.950.5517 -                                                      

        Professional Services 224.951.5319 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL COMMUNITY BLOCK GRANT FUND -                                                      

SECTION 16.  That there be appopriated from the Emergency Management Fund:

SECTION 17.  That there be appropriated from the Homeland Security Grant Fund:

SECTION 18.  That there be appropriated from the Community Block Grant Fund:

15
Page 66

Item #11.



LAKEFRONT CONNECTIVITY & DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT GRANT FUND

       Other

         Professional Services 225.711.5319 -                                                      

         Return of Advance to Fund 101 225.711.5977 -                                                      

-                                                      

             TOTAL LAKEFRONT CONNECTIVITY & DOWNTOWN GRANT FUND -                                                      

CORONAVIRUS RELIEF GRANT FUND

      Personal Services

        Wages 226.715.5140 -                                                      

        Wages - Part Time 226.715.5199 -                                                      

          Total Wages & Salaries -                                                      

      Other

        P.E.R.S 226.715.5220 -                                                      

        Police Pension-City 226.715.5230 -                                                      

        Medicare 226.715.5260 -                                                      

        Social Security 226.715.5265 -                                                      

        Professional Services 226.715.5319 -                                                      

        Unemployment 226.715.5331 -                                                      

        Small Equipment & Supplies 226.715.5430 -                                                      

        Network Equipment & Supplies 226.715.5431 -                                                      

        Cleaning Supplies 226.715.5460 -                                                      

        Office Supplies 226.715.5521 -                                                      

        Small Business Grants 226.715.5568 -                                                      

        Capital Improvements 226.715.5600 -                                                      

-                                                      

             TOTAL CORONAVIRUS RELIEF GRANT FUND -                                                      

NOPEC GRANT FUND

       Other

         Engineering Fees 227.709.5360 -                                                      

         Capital Improvements 227.711.5600 57,000.00                                           

         Return of Advance to Fund 101 227.711.5977 68,144.00                                           

125,144.00                                         

             TOTAL NOPEC GRANT FUND 125,144.00                                         

LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY/ARPA FUND

      Personnel

         Wages-Firefighters & Officers 228.102.5138 20,000.00                                           

          Total Wages & Salaries 20,000.00                                           

      Other

SECTION 20.  That there be appropriated from the Coronavirus Relief Grant Fund:

SECTION 19.  That there be appropriated from the Lakefront Connectivity & Downtown Redevelopment Grant Fund:

           Total Other Expense

           Total Other Expense

SECTION 21.  That there be appropriated from the NOPEC Grant Fund:

           Total Other Expense

SECTION 22.  That there be appropriated from the Local Fiscal Recovery/ARPA Fund:

16
Page 67

Item #11.



         Small Equipment & Supplies 228.101.5430 -                                                      

         Capital Improvement-Police 228.101.5600 60,000.00                                           

         Capital Improvement-Fire 228.102.5600 356,000.00                                         

         Capital Improvement-Recreation 228.303.5600 -                                                      

         Capital Improvement-Sewer 228.503.5600 -                                                      

         Capital Improvement-CC HVAC 228.711.5600 -                                                      

         Capital Improvements-E. 328th St. Sewer Phase 2228.915.5600 -                                                      

         Engineering- E. 305th Sewer Rehab. 228.918.5360 44,000.00                                           

         Capital Improvement-E. 305th Sewer Rehab. 228.918.5600 318,600.00                                         

778,600.00                                         

             TOTAL LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY/ARPA FUND 798,600.00                                         

LAW ENFORCEMENT TRUST FUND

      Other

        Small Equip & Supplies 230.101.5430 -                                                      

        Miscellaneous Expenses 230.101.5568 -                                                      

        Capital Imp. - Police 230.101.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL LAW ENFORCEMENT TRUST FUND -                                                      

LAW ENFORCEMENT CONT. TRAINING FUND

      Personal Services

        Wages-Police Officers 232.101.5135 15,385.22                                           

          Total Wages & Salaries 15,385.22                                           

      Other

        Schools & Training 232.101.5513 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL LAW ENFORCEMENT CONT. TRAINING FUND 15,385.22                                           

EARNED BENEFITS FUND

      Other

        Retirement Benefit Payout-Communications 240.100.5195 -                                                      

        Retirement Benefit Payout-Police 240.101.5195 111,000.00                                         

        Retirement Benefit Payout-Parks 240.301.5195 -                                                      

        Retirement Benefit Payout-Building 240.401.5195 -                                                      

        Retirement Benefit Payout-Transportation 240.601.5195 39,000.00                                           

        Retirement Benefit Payout-Mayor's Office 240.701.5195 -                                                      

        Retirement Benefit Payout-Finance 240.702.5195 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 150,000.00                                         

            TOTAL EARNED BENEFITS FUND 150,000.00                                         

SECTION 25.  That there be appropriated from the Earned Benefits Fund:

SECTION 26.  That there be appropriated from the Fire Loss Claims Fund:

SECTION 23.  That there be appropriated from the Law Enforcement Trust Fund:

SECTION 24.  That there be appropriated from the Law Enforcement Cont. Training Fund:

           Total Other Expense

17
Page 68

Item #11.



FIRE LOSS CLAIMS FUND

      Other

        Miscellaneous Expenses 241.711.5568 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL FIRE LOSS CLAIMS FUND -                                                      

BOND RETIREMENT FUND

      Other

        Legal Fees 301.711.5318 -                                                      

        Registrar Fees 301.711.5384 -                                                      

        State Prop Admin Fees 301.711.5386 6.00                                                    

        County Treasurer Fees 301.711.5390 500.00                                                

        Bond Principal 301.711.5701 -                                                      

        Bond Interest 301.711.5702 -                                                      

        Note Principal 301.711.5703 34,068.00                                           

        Note Interest 301.711.5704 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense 34,574.00                                           

            TOTAL BOND RETIREMENT FUND 34,574.00                                           

MUNICIPAL TAX INCREMENT EQUIV. FUND

      Other

        State Prop Admin Fees 302.710.5386 66.00                                                  

        County Treasurer Fees 302.710.5390 7,000.00                                             

        Legal Fees 302.711.5318 -                                                      

        Miscellaneous Expenses 302.711.5568 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement 302.711.5600 -                                                      

        Note Principal 302.711.5703 -                                                      

        Note Interest 302.711.5704 -                                                      

        PILOT Reimbursement to W/E Schools 302.711.5720 225,000.00                                         

          Total Other Expense 232,066.00                                         

            TOTAL MUNICIPAL TAX INCREMENT EQUIV. FUND 232,066.00                                         

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

      Other

        Capital Improvement - General Admin. 401.711.5600 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement - Police Dept. 401.711.5610 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement - Fire Dept. 401.711.5611 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement - Service Dept. 401.711.5612 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement - Recreation Dept. 401.711.5614 -                                                      

        Transfer to Fund 301 401.711.5904 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND -                                                      

SECTION 27.  That there be appropriated from the Bond Retirement Fund:

SECTION 28.  That there be appropriated from the Municipal Tax Increment Equiv. Fund:

SECTION 29.  That there be appropriated from the Capital Improvement Fund:

SECTION 30.   That there be appropriated from the Stormwater Management Capital Improvement Fund:

18
Page 69

Item #11.



STORMWATER MANAGEMENT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

      Other

        Engineering Fees 420.711.5360 -                                                      

        Capital improvements 420.711.5600 -                                                      

        Engineering Fees-Fairway Blvd. 420.931.5360 -                                                      

        Capital improvements-Fairway Blvd. 420.931.5600 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL STORMWATER MANAGEMENT CAPITAL IMP. FUND -                                                      

SANITARY SEWER CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

      Other

        Capital Improvements 422.503.5600 -                                                      

        Engineering Fees 422.709.5360 -                                                      

        Legal Fees 422.711.5318 -                                                      

        Note Principal 422.711.5703 -                                                      

        Note Interest 422.711.5704 -                                                      

          Total Other Expense -                                                      

            TOTAL SANITARY SEWER CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND -                                                      

E. 328TH SEWER IMPROVEMENT PHASE 2 FUND

      Other

        Engineering Fees 430.915.5360 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement 430.915.5600 -                                                      

        Return of Advance to Fund 205 430.915.5978 70,500.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 70,500.00                                           

            TOTAL E. 328TH SEWER IMPROVEMENT PHASE 2 FUND 70,500.00                                           

E. 327TH SEWER IMPROVEMENT PHASE 2 FUND

      Other

        Engineering Fees 431.916.5360 -                                                      

        Capital Improvement 431.916.5600 -                                                      

        Return of Advance to Fund 101 431.916.5977 420,000.00                                         

          Total Other Expense 420,000.00                                         

            TOTAL E. 327TH SEWER IMPROVEMENT PHASE 2 FUND 420,000.00                                         

FAIRWAY STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENT FUND

      Other

        Engineering Fees 432.917.5360 22,800.00                                           

        Capital Improvement 432.917.5600 -                                                      

        Return of Advance to Fund 205 432.917.5977 37,500.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 60,300.00                                           

            TOTAL FAIRWAY STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENT FUND 60,300.00                                           

SECTION 32.  That there be appropriated from the E. 328th Sewer Improvement Phase 2 Fund:

SECTION 33.  That there be appropriated from the E. 327th Sewer Improvement Phase 2 Fund:

SECTION 34.  That there be appropriated from the Fairway Storm Sewer Improvement Fund:

SECTION 31.  That there be appropriated from the Sanitary Sewer Capital Improvement Fund:

19
Page 70

Item #11.



E. 305TH ST. SEWER IMPROVEMENT FUND

      Other

        Engineering Fees 433.918.5360 60,700.00                                           

          Total Other Expense 60,700.00                                           

            TOTAL E. 305TH ST. SEWER IMPROVEMENT FUND 60,700.00                                           

POLICE PENSION FUND

      Other

        Police Pension City Liability 801.101.5230 420,000.00                                         

        State Prop Admin Fees 801.101.5386 10.00                                                  

        County Treasurer Fees 801.101.5390 1,000.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 421,010.00                                         

            TOTAL POLICE PENSION FUND 421,010.00                                         

SECURITY DEPOSITS FUND

      Other

        Engineering Fees 802.711.5360 4,000.00                                             

        Deposit Refunds 802.711.5970 18,000.00                                           

        Unclaimed Funds 802.711.5972 2,000.00                                             

          Total Other Expense 24,000.00                                           

            TOTAL SECURITY DEPOSIT FUND 24,000.00                                           

      Other

        Donation Purchases 803.811.5800                                             20,000.00 

          Total Other Expense                                             20,000.00 

            TOTAL DONATIONS & BEQUEST FUND                                             20,000.00 

               TOTAL ALL FUNDS 20,868,627.39                                    

SECTION 38.  That there be appropriated from the Donations & Bequests Fund:

SECTION 36.  That there be appropriated from the Police Pension Fund:

SECTION 37.  That there be appropriated from the Security Deposits Fund:

SECTION 40.  All formal actions of this Council concerning the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open 

meeting, and that all deliberations of this Council, or any of its Committees, which resulted in such formal action, were 

in meetings open to the public, in compliance with all legal requirements, including Section 3.12 of the Charter of the 

City of Willowick and Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

SECTION 35.  That there be appropriated from the E. 305th St. Sewer Improvement Fund:

SECTION 41.  That the Clerk of Council be and she is hereby requested to deliver a certified copy of this Ordinance to 

the Lake County Auditor.

SECTION 39.  That the Finance Director is hereby authorized to make expenditures or payments from any of the 

foregoing appropriations upon receiving proper certification and vouchers therefore, approved by the Board of Officers 

authorized by law to approve the same, or an Ordinance or Resolution of Council to make the expenditures; provided 

that no warrants shall be drawn or paid for salaries or wages except to persons employed by authority of and in 

accordance with law or ordinance.

20
Page 71

Item #11.



PASSED:  _________________________ , 2024

         _________________________

Submitted to the Mayor for his approval                    Council President

on _________________________, 2024

          Approved by the Mayor on

ATTEST:

______________________________           _________________________

            Clerk of Council                          Mayor

SECTION 42.  That this Ordinance is hereby declared and determined to be an emergency measure necessary for the 

preservation of the public peace, health and safety of said City for the reason that immediate provision must be made 

for the appropriation herein provided for and it shall, therefore, be in effect immediately upon its approval by the Mayor 

of the City.

         _________________________ , 2024

21
Page 72

Item #11.



AMENDED 
ORDINANCE NO. 2024-14 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 921 OF THE CODIFIED 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF WILLOWICK, OHIO, TITLED 
“STREETS, UTILITIES AND PUBLIC SERVICES CODE;” 
SPECIFICALLY, SECTION 921.08, TITLED “SANITARY SEWER 
RENTAL RATES,” TO PROVIDE A USE CHARGE RATE BASED UPON 
$9.8397 PER 100 CUBIC FEET OF WATER, ESTABLISH A MINIMUM 
QUARTERLY BILLING FOR SUCH USE CHARGE RATE OF $78.72 
PER 800 CUBIC FEET OF WATER, OR PART THEREOF. 

 
 WHEREAS, Section 921.08 (b)(1) of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick 
sets a use charge rate from which every person, firm or corporation whose lots, lands or premises 
served by a connection with the sanitary sewerage system of the City shall pay for discharging 
sewage; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Administration and Council of the City of Willowick have been advised 
of the need to amend Section 921.08(b)(1) to provide for a revised use charge rate and a 
minimum quarterly billing based on that revised use charge rate for sanitary service in the City. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWICK, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Chapter 921 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, 
Ohio, titled “STREETS, UTILITIES AND PUBLIC SERVICES CODE”; specifically Section 
921.08, titled “SANITARY SEWER RENTAL RATES”, is hereby amended to read and provide 
as follows: 
 
  921.08    SANITARY SEWER RENTAL RATES. 
 
  (a) There is hereby established a charge for the use of the sanitary sewerage 
system upon all lots, lands and premises served by a connection with the sanitary sewerage 
system of the City which charge shall be in addition to any revenues received by a levy of taxes 
or assessments on the tax duplicated for sewer purposes.  
 
  (b)(1) Effective on the first day of the current billing cycle, every person, firm or 
corporation whose lots, lands or premises are served by a connection with the sanitary sewerage 
system of the City shall pay for discharging sewage, industrial wastes, waste or other liquids 
either directly or indirectly into the sanitary sewerage system, a sewer rental charge based upon 
the quantity of metered water used in or upon such lots, lands, or premises and such charge shall 
be determined as follows: Each 100 cubic feet of water, or part thereof, measured through any 
one water meter, at the use charge rate of Nine Dollars and .8397 cents ($9.8397) and the 
minimum quarterly billing for such use charge rate shall be Seventy-Eight Dollars and .72 cents 
($78.72) per 800 cubic feet of water, or part thereof per quarter.  

Page 73

Item #12.



Each person qualifying for and enrolled in the Lake County Department of Utilities 
Water Discount Program shall additionally receive a thirty percent (30%) discount on sewer 
consumption, up to a maximum of Twenty-Three Dollars and .62 cents ($23.62) per quarterly 
billing cycle; such discount shall be implemented as soon as practicable by the Lake County 
Department of Utilities, subject to its billing operation updates. 
 
  (b)(2)   The Finance Director… 
 
      * * * 
 
 Section 2.  The existing Section 921.08 of the City’s Codified Ordinances is hereby 
repealed in that said Section to the extent inconsistent herewith is superseded by this legislation. 

 Section 3.  All formal actions of this Council concerning the passage of this Ordinance 
were adopted in an open meeting, and that all deliberations of this Council, or any of its 
Committees, which resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in 
compliance with all legal requirements, including Chapter 107 of the Codified Ordinances and 
Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 WHEREFORE, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
passage by Council and approval by the Mayor. 

 

Adopted by Council: __________, 2024 _________________________________ 
Monica Koudela, Council President 

  
  
Submitted to the Mayor: ___________, 2024 __________________________________ 

Michael J. Vanni, Mayor 
Approved by the Mayor: ___________, 2024  
 
 
ATTEST: ____________________________ 
                 Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council 

 

 

  
 

Page 74

Item #12.



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-15 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 139 OF THE CODIFIED 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF WILLOWICK, OHIO, TITLED 
“DIVISION OF POLICE;” SPECIFICALLY, SECTION 139.02 TITLED 
“RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT; BOND”. 

 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Willowick believes it to be in the best interest of 

the City to amend Section 139.02 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick to 
eliminate the maximum age at which an individual may receive an original appointment to the 
Willowick Police Department.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWICK, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Chapter 139.02 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, 
Ohio, titled “DIVISION OF POLICE” specifically Section 139.02, titled “Residency 
Requirement; Bond” is hereby amended to read and provide as follows: 
 

139.02 AGE; RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT; BOND 
 
All regular members of the Police Division shall give bond in the sum of one 
thousand dollars ($1,000). There shall be no maximum age limitation for an 
original appointment to the Willowick Police Department.  

 Section 2.  The existing Section 139.02 of the City’s Codified Ordinances is hereby 
repealed in that said Section to the extent inconsistent herewith is superseded by this legislation. 

 Section 3.  All formal actions of this Council concerning the passage of this Ordinance 
were adopted in an open meeting, and that all deliberations of this Council, or any of its 
Committees, which resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in 
compliance with all legal requirements, including Chapter 107 of the Codified Ordinances and 
Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

Section 4.  This Ordinance is hereby declared to be an emergency measure necessary for 
the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, safety, welfare of the residents of the City 
of Willowick, and that it will ensure the orderly and efficient testing of civil service candidates.  

 WHEREFORE, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
passage by Council and approval by the Mayor. 

 

Adopted by Council: __________, 2024 _________________________________ 
Monica Koudela, Council President 

  
  

Page 75

Item #13.



Submitted to the Mayor: ___________, 2024 __________________________________ 
Michael Vanni, Mayor 

Approved by the Mayor: ___________, 2024  
 
 
ATTEST: ____________________________ 
                 Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council 

 

 

  
 

Page 76

Item #13.



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-16 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 141 OF THE CODIFIED 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF WILLOWICK, OHIO, TITLED 
“DIVISION OF FIRE;” SPECIFICALLY, SECTION 141.01 TITLED 
“COMPOSITION; RANK.” 

 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Willowick believes it to be in the best interests of 

the City to amend Section 141.01 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick to amend 
the maximum age at which an individual may receive an original appointment to the Willowick 
Fire Department.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWICK, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Chapter 141.01 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, 
Ohio, titled “DIVISION OF FIRE” specifically Section 141.01, titled “Composition; Rank” is 
hereby amended to read and provide as follows: 
 

141.01 COMPOSITION; AGE; RANK. 

   (a)   The Division of Fire shall consist of the following officers, in order of rank: 
Chief, five Captains, eight Lieutenants and a maximum number of fifty-eight, 
who shall be designated as First Class, Second Class and Third Class Firemen 
firefighters. 

   (b)   Upon recommendation of the Chief of Fire and with the approval of the 
Safety Director, any member of the Fire Division who has at least one year of 
service as a Third Class firefighter shall advance to Second 
Class firefighter provided he or she has satisfactorily completed all requirements 
as prescribed by the Training Officer and the Chief of the Division of Fire, and 
any member of the Fire Division who has at least one year of service as a Second 
Class firefighter shall advance to First Class firefighter provided he or she has 
satisfactorily completed all requirements as prescribed by the Training Officer 
and the Chief of the Division of Fire. 

     (c) There shall be no maximum age limitation for an original appointment to 
the Willowick Fire Department.  

 Section 2.  The existing Section 141.01 of the City’s Codified Ordinances is hereby 
repealed in that said Section to the extent inconsistent herewith is superseded by this legislation. 

 Section 3.  All formal actions of this Council concerning the passage of this Ordinance 
were adopted in an open meeting, and that all deliberations of this Council, or any of its 
Committees, which resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in 

Page 77

Item #14.



compliance with all legal requirements, including Chapter 107 of the Codified Ordinances and 
Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 WHEREFORE, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
passage by Council and approval by the Mayor. 

 

Adopted by Council: __________, 2024 _________________________________ 
Monica Koudela, Council President 

  
  
Submitted to the Mayor: ___________, 2024 __________________________________ 

Michael Vanni, Mayor 
Approved by the Mayor: ___________, 2024  
 
 
ATTEST: ____________________________ 
                 Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council 

 

 

  
 

Page 78

Item #14.



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-17 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE COMPENSATION OF THE 
DIRECTOR OF LAW OF THE CITY, REPEALING CERTAIN 
ORDINANCES, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor has appointed Stephanie E. Landgraf, an attorney duly admitted 
to practice law in the State of Ohio, as Director of Law, pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.5 
of the Willowick City Charter, for a term commencing January 1, 2024, and terminating December 
31, 2027; and  
 

WHEREAS, Council has confirmed the appointment of the Director of Law. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Willowick, 
County of Lake, and State of Ohio: 
 
 Section 1. That effective April 1, 2024, the Director of Law shall receive compensation 
as follows: 
 
 a) The City shall pay the Law Director Two Thousand Four Hundred Twenty-Three 
Dollars and Eight Cents ($2,423.08) bi-weekly for the following: attendance at all regular meetings 
of Council, and such special and adjoining meetings of Council as the Mayor or Council may 
request; the preparation of legislation, contracts and legal documents; the furnishing of legal advice 
as may be required for the various officials, departments, boards or commission of the City; the 
preparation and supervision of the proceedings for the construction and financing of all 
improvements of the City; drafting zoning ordinances; services in connection with zoning; services 
in connection with revisions to the Codified Ordinances of the City; and attendance at meetings 
and hearings of various commissions and boards of the City, at which the attendance of the Director 
of Law is requested. Subject to provisions of Sections (b), (c) and (d) hereof, the time required to 
be expended by the Director of Law in performing the duties hereunder shall not exceed thirty (30) 
hours per month. 
 
 b) For all time in excess of thirty (30) hours per month expended by the Director of 
Law in performing the duties described in subsection (a) hereof, the City shall pay the Director of 
Law at the rate of One Hundred Twenty-Five Dollars ($125.00) per hour. 
 
 c) For representing the City or performing services for it in any matter of litigation, 
including the prosecution of proceedings before administrative boards or tribunals, the City shall 
pay the Director of Law such reasonable compensation as may be approved by the Council of the 
City. 
 
 d) The City shall reimburse the Director of Law for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by her in the performance of the duties imposed herein. 
 

Page 79

Item #15.



 Section 2.  In addition to the payment provided in the foregoing paragraphs, the City shall 
pay the City Prosecutor, appointed by the Law Director, compensation in the amount of One 
Thousand Three Hundred Forty-Six Dollars and Sixteen Cents ($1,346.16) bi-weekly. 
 
 Section 3.  Pursuant to Section 5.5 of the Charter, the Director of Law is hereby authorized 
to retain, at her expense, the services of assistants or designees to assist her in the performance of 
the duties imposed upon her by virtue of this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 4.   That the Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into an Agreement for Legal 
Services with Stephanie Landgraf and/or her law firm in accordance with this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 5.   That said Director shall respond to the inquires of Council regarding the 
services of her Department and such matters that would come within her Department’s 
responsibilities. 
 
 Section 6.  That all Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict herewith be and the same are 
hereby repealed. 
 
 Section 7.  That this Ordinance constitutes an emergency measure in that the same provides 
for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, safety and welfare of the inhabitants of 
the City of Willowick and further, provides for the usual daily operation of the municipal law 
department. 
 
 WHEREFORE, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
passage by Council and approval by the Mayor. 
  
 
Adopted by Council: _____________, 2024   _____________________________  
        Monica Koudela, Council President 
 
 
Submitted to the Mayor: ___________, 2024  _____________________________ 
        Michael J. Vanni, Mayor 
Approved by the Mayor: ___________, 2024 
 
 
Attest: _______________________________ 
           Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council 

Page 80

Item #15.



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2024-18 

 
AN ORDINANCE ENACTING CODIFIED ORDINANCE 142.02 TITLED 
“CHIEF OF DIVISION OF FIRE.” 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Willowick is a home-rule municipality reserving unto itself all 

powers of local self-government in its Charter. 
 
WHEREAS, the appointment of municipal employees is a matter of local self-government 

under City of Cleveland ex rel. Neelon v. Locher (1971), 25 Ohio St.2d 49, 50.  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Willowick Charter clearly and expressly states that the Willowick 

City Council is authorized to adopt Ordinances that relate to civil service appointments, 
promotions, demotions, hirings, terminations and all other civil service personnel matters; and that 
such Ordinances shall prevail over any State civil service statutes that may directly or indirectly 
conflict therewith. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWICK, COUNTY OF LAKE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 Section 1.  Section 141.02 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, entitled 
“CHIEF OF THE DIVISION OF FIRE” is hereby established to read and provide as follows: 
 
 141.02  CHIEF OF DIVISION OF FIRE 
 

   (a)   Subject to the orders and directions of the Director of Public Safety, the 
Chief of the Division of Fire shall be responsible for the organization and 
supervision of the Division of Fire. Included within the supervisory authority of 
the Chief shall be firefighters of all ranks, whether part-time or full-time, and any 
secretaries assigned to the Division. The Chief shall also perform all duties and 
exercise all authority granted to the Chief in the Willowick Codified Ordinances, 
the Ohio Revised Code, and the Ohio Administrative Code. 
 
   (b)   Pursuant to the Charter, the Chief is in the classified service of the City. 
Vacancies in the position shall be filled first by competitive examination and 
assessment of eligible Captains and Lieutenants in the Willowick Fire Department 
conducted by the Civil Service Commission. If less than two (2) internal candidates 
sit for the examination for the position, or if all internal candidates on the eligibility 
list decline the appointment, individuals from outside the employ of the City of 
Willowick shall be eligible to take the competitive examination and assessment for, 
and subsequently appointed to, the position of Chief.  
 
    (c)   There shall be no maximum age limitation on an individual appointed to the 
position of Chief of the Division of Fire.  
 

Page 81

Item #16.



    (d) In all respects not in conflict herewith, the rules of the Civil Service 
Commission shall apply. 

Section 2.  All formal actions of this Council concerning the passage of this 
Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting, and that all deliberations of this Council, or 
any of its Committees, which resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the 
public, in compliance with all legal requirements, including Chapter 107 of the Codified 
Ordinances and Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 WHEREFORE, this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
passage by Council and approval by the Mayor. 
 
 
Adopted by Council: __________, 2024 _________________________________ 

Monica Koudela, Council President 
  
  
Submitted to the Mayor: ___________, 2024 __________________________________ 

Michael J. Vanni, Mayor 
Approved by the Mayor: ___________, 2024  
 
 
ATTEST: ____________________________ 
                 Christine Morgan, Clerk of Council 

 

 

Page 82

Item #16.



Page 83

Item #22.


	Top
	Item #4.	Motion Authorizing the Mayor to Enter into a Contract with Ohio Mobile Gaming in the Amount of $624.36 to Rent Equipment for the Eclipse Program on April 8, 2024
	OMG Contract 2024

	Item #5.	Motion to Authorize the Mayor to Execute a One (1) Year Contract with Comfort Control System for Preventative Maintenance in the Amount of $6,980.00
	Comfort Controls 2024 contract

	Item #6.	A Resolution of the Council of the City of Willowick Naming the City Swimming Pool at 30100 Arnold Drive, the Martin E. Guzauskas Pool at Manry Park
	Res 2024-12 Renaming Pool

	Item #7.	A Resolution to Approve Authorizations (Then and Now Certificate) to Aladtec, LLC in the Amount of $5,099.00 for the City of Willowick and Declaring an Emergency
	Res 2024-13 (Then and Now) Aldatec

	Item #8.	A Resolution Terminating the Community Reinvestment Area Agreement and Tax Abatement for Lucid Investments, Inc., DBA Cleveland Pizza, Co., and 31222 Vine, LLC., and Declaring an Emergency
	Res 2024-14 Terminating CRA with Cle Pizza
	Res 2024-14 Exhibit A

	Item #9.	A Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to Prepare and Submit an Application to Participate in the Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) Grant Program through the United States Department of Transporation, to Execute any Necessary Contracts or Documents Associated Therewith, and Declaring an Emergency
	Res 2024-15 USDOT Safe Roads

	Item #10.	A Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to Prepare and Submit a Funding Request to Participate in the Community Project Funding Grant Program through the United States House of Representatives' Appropriations Committee, to Execute any Necessary Contracts or Documents Associated Therewith, and Declaring an Emergency
	Res 2024-16 US House

	Item #11.	An Ordinance to Make Appropriations for Current Expenses and Other Expenditures of the City of Willowick, State of Ohio, During the Calendar Year Ending December 31, 2024
	Ord 2024-13 BUDGET 2024

	Item #12.	An Ordinance Amending Chapter 921 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, Ohio, titled "Streets, Utilities and Public Services Code;" Specifically, Section 921.08 titled "Sanitary Sewer Rental Rates." to Provide a Use Charge Rate Based upong $9.8397 Per 100 Cubic Feet of Water, Establish a Minimum Quarterly Billing for Such Use Charge Rate of $78.72 per 800 Cubic Feet of Water, of Part Thereof
	Ord 2024-14 Amend Chapter 921 Sewer Rate

	Item #13.	An Ordinance Amending Chapter 139 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, Ohio, titled "Division of Police;" Specifically, Section 139.02 titled "Residency Requirement; Bond"
	Ord 2024-15 Chapter 139 02 age limit

	Item #14.	An Ordinance Amending Chapter 141 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Willowick, Ohio, titled "Division of Fire;" Specifically Section 141.01 titled "Composition; Rank."
	Ord 2024-16 Chapter 141

	Item #15.	An Ordinance Establishing the Compensation of the Director of Law of the City, Repealing Certain Ordinances, and Declaring an Emergency
	Ord 2024-17 Law Compensation

	Item #16.	An Ordinance Enacting Codified Ordinance 142.02 titled "Chief of the Division of Fire"
	Ord 2024-18 Fire Chief

	Item #22.	Motion to Authorize the Expenditure of Funds to American Legal Publishing Not to Exceed $10,700.00 for 2023 Updates to the City of Willowick Codified Ordinances
	American Legal

	Bottom

